THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, PETITIONER,

٧.

LARRY ALAN HAYES, RESPONDENT

Court of Appeals Cause No. 43207-2 Appeal from the Superior Court of Pierce County The Honorable Eric Schmidt, Pro Tem

No. 07-1-05967-1

PETITION FOR REVIEW

MARK LINDQUIST Prosecuting Attorney

By
KATHLEEN PROCTOR
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
WSB # 14811

930 Tacoma Avenue South Room 946 Tacoma, WA 98402 PH: (253) 798-7400

A. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER.

The State of Washington, respondent below, asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals' decision terminating review designated in part B of this petition.

B. <u>COURT OF APPEALS DECISION</u>.

The State seeks review of the published opinion, filed on November 13, 2013, in the *State of Washington v. Larry Alan Hayes*, in COA Case No. 43207-2-II. *See* Appendix A.

C. ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW.

- 1. May a trial court impose an exceptional sentence based upon the jury returning special verdicts finding defendant's crimes to be major economic offenses under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(d), when the trial court's instructions to the jury permitted it to convict based upon accomplice liability?
- 2. As this Court's decisions in *McKim* and *Silva-Baltazar* instruct that a sentencing enhancement provision may sometimes be applied to an accomplice even though that term does not appear in the statute, did the Court of Appeals erroneously find that the absence of the term "accomplice" in RCW 9.94A.535 precluded

applicability of those aggravating circumstances to any accomplice?

3. When the "major economic offense" aggravating circumstance under RCW 9.94A.535(3)(d) is defined as one where a crime has additional factor beyond the elements that more fully describes the nature of the crime committed - as opposed to an aggravating circumstance that focuses on an aspect of the defendant's actions, motivation, or intent - may the jury's finding that the offense was a "major economic offense" be applied to any participant in the offense?

D. STATEMENT OF THE CASE.

This is the second time this case has been before the appellate courts.

Defendant Larry Hayes was convicted of with one count of identity theft in the first degree, two counts of possession of a stolen vehicle, five counts of identity theft in the second degree, five counts of possessing stolen property in the second degree, one count of unlawful possession of a personal identification device and one count of unlawful possession of a controlled substance and one count leading organized crime following a jury trial. *State v. Hayes*, 164 Wn. App. 459, 464-66. 262 P.3d 534

(2011). Additional information about the evidence used to convict defendant of these crimes can be found in the published decision in the first appeal. *Id.* The "to convict" instructions allowed the jury to convict based on accomplice liabilty. *Id.* at 466-67; CP 129-177. The jury also returned several special verdicts finding that the offenses were major economic offenses. *Id.* at 466. The trial court imposed an exceptional sentence of 180 months on the count of leading organized crime. *Id.*; CP 178-202. Defendant appealed; on review the Court of Appeals vacated his leading organized crime conviction, which vacated the exceptional sentence, and two convictions for possession of a stolen vehicle, then remanded the matter to the trial court. *Hayes*, 164 Wn. App. at 485.

On remand from the first direct appeal, defendant was brought before the court for re-sentencing on eleven¹ crimes; on each the jury had returned a special verdict finding the crime to be a major economic offense. CP 25, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 98-111. At his resentencing, the trial court imposed an exceptional sentence on Count 1 (identity theft in the first degree), based upon the jury's special verdict, and added an additional twelve months to the standard range for a total term of confinement of 96 months. CP 98-111; RCW 9.94A.535(3)(d).

One count of identity theft in the first degree, five counts of identity theft in the second degree, and five counts of possessing stolen property in the second degree. CP 98-111.

Defendant again appealed challenging his exceptional sentence based upon the jury's finding that he committed a major economic offense under RCW 9.94A.535, arguing the jury could have found him guilty of this crime based upon accomplice liability and sentencing enhancement must be predicated on his own actions. In a published decision, the Court of Appeals held that the "major economic offense" aggravating circumstance found in RCW 9.94.535(3)(d) cannot be applied to accomplices because the Legislature did not use the term "accomplice" in that statute; it relied upon the decision in *State v. Pineda-Pineda*, 154 Wn. App. 653, 226 P.3d 164 (2010), which held "triggering language" in a sentence enhancement is required to show a legislative intent to apply the enhancement to an accomplice. Appendix A. The court vacated defendant's exceptional sentence. *Id.*² The State now seeks review of this decision.

² After the issuance of the decision below, defendant successfully moved in the trial court for an order allowing his release pending further appellate review so that he would not be deprived of the fruits of his appeal. Thus, defendant's sentence has not been fully served.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED.

1. GUIDANCE IS NEEDED FROM THIS COURT AS TO HOW TO ASSESS WHETHER AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE FOUND IN RCW 9.94A.535 CAN BE APPLIED TO ACCOMPLICES: THE COURT BELOW INCORRECTLY RELIED UPON A COURT OF APPEALS DECISION RATHER THAN **FOLLOWING** THIS COURT'S **JURISPRUDENCE** AND, THEREFORE, CAME TO AN ERRONEOUS CONCLUSION AS TO THE APPLICABLITY OF THE MAJOR ECONOMIC OFFENSE AGGRAVATOR TO ACCOMPLICES.

As a general rule under Washington law, penalty enhancement provisions must depend on the accused's own misconduct rather than that of an accomplice's because the complicity statute found in RCW 9A.08.020(1) is "limited to accountability for crimes." *State v. McKim*, 98 Wn.2d 111, 116, 653 P.2d 1040 (1982). The Washington Legislature defined the nature of accomplice liability in RCW 9A.08.020. Criminal liability attaches to anyone who participates in a crime and there is no difference between principle and accomplice liability. *State v. McDonald*,

Junder RCW 9A.08.020, a "person is guilty of a crime if it is committed by the conduct of another person for which he is legally accountable." RCW 9A.08.020(1). "A person is legally accountable for the conduct of another person when he is the accomplice of such other person in the commission of a crime." RCW 9A.08.020(2)(c). An individual is "an accomplice" if he or she "solicits, commands, encourages, or requests" another person to commit a crime or aids in its planning or commission, knowing that his or her act will promote or facilitate the commission of the crime. RCW 9A.08.020(3).

138 Wn.2d 680, 688, 981 P.2d 443 (1999). The Washington Supreme Court has summarized the legislative intent behind RCW 9A.08.020(3) as:

The legislature has said that anyone who participates in the commission of a crime is guilty of the crime and should be charged as a principal, regardless of the degree or nature of his participation. Whether he holds the gun, holds the victim, keeps a lookout, stands by ready to help the assailant, or aids in some other way, he is a participant. The elements of the crime remain the same.

State v. Carothers, 84 Wn.2d 256, 264, 525 P.2d 731 (1974), disapproved on other grounds by, State v. Harris, 102 Wn.2d 148, 153-54, 685 P.2d 584 (1984).

At issue in *McKim* was whether the deadly weapon statute, which increased punishment for an "accused [who] was armed with a deadly weapon, as defined by RCW 9.95.040, at the time of the commission of the crime" could be applied to a defendant who was not personally armed during the commission of an offense, but whose accomplice was armed. This Court determined that the accomplice liability statute, RCW 9A.08.020, makes a participant in a crime "equally liable [with other participants] only for the substantive crime." *McKim*, at 117. This court's analysis focused on the fact that under RCW 9A.08.020, there is no strict liability for the conduct of another in regard to a sentence enhancement provision; this contrasted with an earlier accomplice liability statute that

had imposed liability for punishment as well. *Id.* at 116-17. ⁴ As liability for increased punishment did not flow from the general accomplice liability statute, the court then looked at the language of the deadly weapon statute itself. The court concluded that this language allowed for enhanced punishment upon a special finding that:

... an accused was either actually armed with a deadly weapon or was constructively armed with such a weapon. The phrase "constructively armed with a deadly weapon" means the accused's accomplice must have been actually armed with a deadly weapon and the accused must have had knowledge that the accomplice was so armed.

McKim, 98 Wn.2d at 117. In sum, the court in *McKim* found that the enhancement provision could be applied to accomplices under certain circumstances even though the statute did not specifically use the term "accomplice."

Under the principles set forth in *McKim*, liability for sentencing enhancement provisions does not flow automatically from RCW 9A.08.020. Thus, the question arises when construing any sentencing enhancement provision whether or not the Legislature intended to impose

⁴ McKim has been superceded by statutory changes made by the Sentencing Reform Act of 1981 to the deadly weapon enhancement provision. State v. Bilal, 54 Wn. App. 778, 776 P.2d 153, review denied, 113 Wn.2d 1020, 781 P.2d 1322 (1989).

strict liability for the enhancement on all participants⁵ of a crime or just upon certain participants.

Some sentencing enhancements expressly allow for punishment premised on accomplice liability. For instance, the firearm enhancement statute, RCW 9.94A.533, contains language demonstrating the legislature's intent to extend accomplice liability into the sentencing realm. RCW 9.94A.533(3) reads, "The following additional times shall be added to the standard sentence range for felony crimes committed after July 23, 1995, if the offender *or an accomplice* was armed with a firearm as defined in RCW 9.41.010." (Emphasis added).

This Court has also found that the sentencing enhancement found in RCW 69.50.435, which increases punishment on certain controlled substance offenses committed in locations specified in the statute (hereinafter "drug free zones") could be applied to accomplices who were physically present in the "drug free zone." *State v. Silva-Baltazar*, 125 Wn.2d 472, 886 P.2d 138 (1994). This Court noted that nothing in the language of RCW 69.50.435 required knowledge on the part of any of the participants in the controlled substance offense that they were in a "drug

⁵ The word "accomplice" accurately denotes a relationship between two or more participants in a crime, but is not a particularly useful term to denote the level of a person's participation in that crime. If a crime is committed by three persons- two of whom could be considered principals (or major participants) and the third is a minor participant, then legally each one is "an accomplice" of the other two.

free zone" for the enhancement to apply - an indication that the Legislature was intending to impose strict liability. *Id.* at 482. This Court did not find persuasive arguments that because the term "accomplice" was omitted from RCW 69.50.435 that the Legislature did not intend it to apply to accomplices. *Id.* at 483. The court expressly left open, however, "whether the enhancement applies to accomplices who are not themselves within the drug free zone, but are liable for a crime of another who does conduct the prohibited drug activity in a drug free zone." *Id.* at 474.

That issue was addressed by Division I of the Court of Appeals in *State v. Pineda-Pineda*, 154 Wn. App. 653, 226 P.3d 164 (2010). It concluded that an accomplice who was not physically in the "drug free zone" at the time of the delivery of a controlled substance could not be subject to an increased sentence under RCW 69.50.435. It held "where there is no explicit statutory authorization for imposition of a sentence enhancement on an accomplice, the defendants' own acts must form the basis for the enhancement." *Id.* at 664.

At issue in the case now before the court is a portion of the aggravating circumstance found in RCW 9.94A.535(3)(d). That provision reads in its entirety:

(d) The current offense was a major economic offense or series of offenses, so identified by a consideration of any of the following factors:

- (i) The current offense involved multiple victims or multiple incidents per victim;
- (ii) The current offense involved attempted or actual monetary loss substantially greater than typical for the offense;
- (iii) The current offense involved a high degree of sophistication or planning or occurred over a lengthy period of time; or
- (iv) The defendant used his or her position of trust, confidence, or fiduciary responsibility to facilitate the commission of the current offense.

RCW 9.94A.535(3)(d). In this case the jury was instructed that if it were to find defendant guilty of any offense that it must also determine whether the crime was a major economic offense, under two of the four factors listed in the statute. CP 129-177, Instruction No. 44. Specifically, the jury was instructed that:

To find that a crime is a major economic offense, at least one of the following factors must be proved beyond a reasonable doubt:

- (1) The crime involved multiple victims or multiple incidents per victim; or
- (2) The crime involved a high degree of sophistication or planning or occurred over a lengthy period of time.

. . .

CP 129-177, Instruction No. 45 (in part). After remand from the first direct appeal in this case, defendant Hayes remained convicted of eleven crimes for which the jury had returned special verdicts finding the crimes

to be major economic offenses. CP 25, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, 35, 36, 98-111. In the first appeal in this case, the Court of Appeals had vacated the leading organized crime conviction for which defendant has received an exceptional sentence at his original sentencing hearing. CP 47-61, 178-202. At his re-sentencing hearing following remand the court imposed an exceptional sentence on Count 1, based upon the jury's special verdict finding the offense to be a major economic offense. CP 98-111; RCW 9.94A.535(3)(d).

On review the Court of Appeals, Division II, vacated this exceptional sentence because it did not find any "triggering language" in RCW 9.94A.535(3)(d) specifically invoking accomplice liability for this aggravating circumstance as required by *Pineda-Pineda*. See Appendix A, Opinion at 7. The language of the opinion indicates that the Court of Appeals would not find any sentence enhancement provision applicable to accomplices unless the statute specifically mentioned accomplices. *See* Appendix A, Opinion at 7-8 ("if the Legislature wanted this major economic offense enhancement to apply to accomplices, it could have easily and clearly mentioned accomplice liability in RCW 9.94A.535 as it did the firearm enhancement"), and 8 ("nowhere in RCW 9.94A.535 did the legislature choose to reference accomplices."). The court below noted that there were differences in the language used in the various

enhancement provisions, but did not find that any of these differences relevant to its construction because the Legislature had not included an explicit reference to accomplices. *Id.*

In both *McKim* and *Silva-Baltazar*, the fact that the Legislature did not use the term "accomplice" in an enhancement provision was *not* determinative of whether the statutory provision could be applied to accomplices. Had the court below paid greater attention to the jurisprudence of this Court, it would have given greater consideration to the differences in language that the Legislature did use in enacting RCW 9.94A.535, rather than focusing solely on the absence of a word. To this extent the decision below conflicts with decisions of this court, which is a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(1).

This Court has yet to construe whether any of the aggravating factors in RCW 9.94A.535⁶ are applicable to accomplices. It is the State's position that that the correct answer to this question cannot be answered with a blanket "yes" or a "no," but will depend on which aggravating circumstance in RCW 9.94A.535 is being considered. A decision from this Court on even one subsection of RCW 9.94A.535 would provide an analytical framework for other courts to follow. As such this case raises a

⁶ See Appendix B for full text of statute.

issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by this Court, which is a basis for review under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

The aggravating circumstances set forth in RCW 9.94A.535 cover a broad range of factors. Some of the circumstances focus on the defendant's actions such as when the defendant manifests deliberate cruelty to the victim, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(a), or the defendant uses his or her position of trust, confidence, or fiduciary responsibility to facilitate the commission of the offense, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(n). Other circumstances discuss what the defendant knew or should have known about his victim, such as being particularly vulnerable, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(b), or pregnant, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(c). Other circumstances do not focus on the defendant's actions or what he knew, but on the impact of the crime, i.e. a rape of child resulting in the victim's pregnancy, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(i), or the victim's injuries substantially exceeding the level of bodily harm necessary for the element of crime, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(y). aggravating circumstances simply describe some quality of the offense: it involved a high degree of sophistication or planning, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(m), or an invasion of the victim's privacy, RCW 9.94A.535(3)(p).

Close examination of the varied wording of these aggravating circumstances indicates that the Legislature intended some of them to

apply to any participant in the substantive crime while others must be attributed to a particular defendant. Generally, the Legislature's use of the phrase "the defendant" in setting forth an aggravating circumstance signals an intent that the circumstance be assessed against an individualized defendant and not extended to accomplices or every participant in the offense. In contrast, the use of the term "the current offense" usually signals where the Legislature has identified when commission of a crime, in combination with an additional factor describing an aspect about the crime, results in an offense that is deserving of harsher punishment. The aggravating circumstances setting forth such factors are focused on the nature of the current substantive offense and not the motive, knowledge, or specific actions of any one participant. As these aggravating circumstances describe the resulting substantive crime, any participant in that crime should be subject to the enhancement. Such a result gives meaning to the varying language in RCW 9.94A.535 and is also consistent with general liability principles set forth in McDonald and McKim.

As mentioned above, at issue in this case is RCW 9.94A.535(3)(d). This provision provides four factors that define whether an offense (or series of offenses) qualifies as major economic offense. Three of the four factors describe the nature of the offense as involving: 1) multiple victims

or multiple incidents per victim; 2) attempted or actual monetary loss substantially greater than typical for the offense; or, 3) a high degree of sophistication or planning or occurring over a lengthy period of time. RCW 9.94A.535(3)(d)(i-iii). Under the State's analysis, since these factors describe the resulting offense and do not reference an actor, they should be applicable to any participant in the crime. The fourth factor that can define a major economic offense is that the "defendant used his or her position of trust, confidence, or fiduciary responsibility to facilitate the commission of the current offense." RCW 9.94A.535 (3)(d)(iv). Because the Legislature has focused on the attributes of a particular defendant in this subsection, this could not be applied to any participant in the crime, but only those participants who used a position of trust to facilitate the commission of the crime.

As noted earlier, subsection (iv) is not at issue in this case because the jury was not instructed upon it; only subsections (i) and (iii) are at issue. CP 129-177, Instruction No. 45. Both of these subsections describe the nature of the crime and not the person committing it. Neither of these subsections reference "the defendant" or even an make an indirect reference to the entity committing the crime. Because these factors describe the crime and not an aspect of the person committing the crime, the applicability of these factors does not change from one participant in

the crime to the next. Once the jury finds the crime meets the criteria set forth in the aggravating circumstance, it is applicable to all the participants in the crime and need not be assessed on an individualized basis. Such an aggravating circumstance should apply equally to all participants in a crime regardless of whether they are a minor or major participant.

Division I of the Court of Appeals reached a similar conclusion in an unpublished decision decided after *Pineda-Pineda*. See State v. Webb, 176 Wn. App. 1011, 2013 WL 4607805 (2013) (unpublished COA Case No. 70360-9-I, decided August 26, 2013). Webb committed a burglary with another person; he was convicted at trial and the jury returned a special verdict that the victim of the burglary was present in the building or residence when the crime was committed pursuant to RCW 9.94A.535(3)(u). Webb argued that the aggravating factor could not be applied to him because there was no evidence that he actually entered the residence and under *Pineda-Pineda*, his own acts must form the basis for the enhancement. 2013 WL 4607805 (Wn App. Div 1) at p.5. The Court of Appeals, Division I rejected this argument and distinguished *Pineda-Pineda*. It concluded:

In this case, liability under the aggravating factor does not depend on any conduct by Webb, or the conduct of the principal, for that matter, other than participation in the burglary. It does not require, as Webb argues, evidence that he personally was inside the residence at the time of

the commission of the crime. The statute only requires that the victim of the burglary be "present in the building or residence when the crime was committed." See RCW 9.94A.535(3)(u).

Id. The decision in **Webb** is consistent with the State's argument here and inconsistent with the decision below. This shows that Division II is reading Division I's decision in **Pineda-Pineda** in a manner that conflicts with how that division is reading its own case. Although one case is unpublished, the decisions in **Webb** and **Hayes** show that different divisions of the Court of Appeals are issuing conflicting decisions and that guidance from this court is needed. This is another basis for taking discretionary review. RAP 13.4(b)(2).

F. CONCLUSION.

This court should grant review to correct the error made by the Court of Appeals below, eliminate conflicting decisions among the divisions of the Court of Appeals and to provide guidance to inferior courts as to how to assess whether the aggravating circumstances in RCW

9.94A.535 may be applied to any participant in the crime or must pertain to a defendant's own actions.