RECEIVED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON Jan 09, 2014, 3:28 pm BY RONALD R. CARPENTER CLERK



Supreme Court No. 89742-5 (COA No. 43207-2-II)

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Petitioner,

٧.

LARRY HAYES,

Respondent.

ON APPEAL FROM THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON FOR PIERCE COUNTY

ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

NANCY P. COLLINS Attorney for Respondent

WASHINGTON APPELLATE PROJECT 1511 Third Avenue, Suite 701 Seattle, Washington 98101 (206) 587-2711

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

E. ARGUMENT.

The Court of Appeals relied on settled law and established principles to construe a statute and there is no conflict or constitutional infirmity requiring review

1. Settled law requires express triggering language to impose an enhanced sentence premised on accomplice liability.

The State concedes that the imposition of an enhanced penalty must depend on the accused's own conduct. *State v. McKim*, 98 Wn.2d 111, 116, 653 P.2d 1040 (1982). This principle is well-settled. "Absent explicit evidence of a contrary legislative intent, an accomplice's

liability extends only to the substantive crime, not sentence enhancements." 13A Wash. Prac., Criminal Law § 104 (2013-2014 ed.).

The complicity statute that permits accomplice liability for a substantive offense does not apply to sentencing statutes. *McKim*, 98 Wn.2d at 116; *see* RCW 9A.08.020(1). "Instead of relying on the complicity statute as the triggering device for penalty enhancement . . ., we must look to the operative language" of the sentencing provision at issue. *Id*.

In *McKim*, this Court concluded that a prior version of the deadly weapon enhancement statute did not authorize an enhanced penalty for an accomplice where another participant possesses a deadly weapon. *Id.* After *McKim*, the Legislature changed the deadly weapon enhancement statute to include express triggering language – the revised statute directs additional punishment when "the offender or an accomplice was armed with a deadly weapon." *See State v. Silva-Baltazar*, 125 Wn.2d 472, 481, 886 P.2d 138 (1994) (quoting former RCW 9.94A.125 and discussing statutory change following *McKim*).

The Legislature has not changed the complicity statute since *McKim*. RCW 9A.08.020 continues to define when a person may be

liable for a substantive offense based on another person's conduct and does not authorize increased punishment under the Sentencing Reform Act. *See, e.g., In re Pers. Restraint of Howerton*, 109 Wn.App. 494, 501, 36 P.3d 565 (2001) (*McKim*'s analysis "is sound" regarding the complicity statute's inapplicability to sentence enhancements).

In *Silva-Baltazar*, this Court applied *McKim* to an enhancement imposed for a drug sale that occurs within 1000 feet of a school bus zone. 125 Wn.2d at 480. The school bus zone enhancement increases punishment for "[a]ny person" who commits a specified drug offense "within one thousand feet of a school bus stop route." *Id.* at 476 (citing RCW 69.50.435). This Court construed the statute to authorize added punishment when the defendant was personally present within the school bus zone during the specified drug offense. *Id.* at 483. Persons who "are themselves participating in this criminal activity within a drug free zone are subject to the enhancement." *Id.*

In State v. Pineda-Pineda, 154 Wn.App. 653, 661, 226 P.3d 164 (2010), the Court of Appeals applied McKim and Silva-Baltazar to a drug zone enhancement when the defendant was not personally present within the zone at the time of the offense. Consistent with prior cases, Pineda-Pineda explained, "the accomplice liability statute does not

contain a triggering device for penalty enhancement." *Id.* at 661.

Consequently, "the authority to impose a sentencing enhancement on the basis of accomplice liability must come from the specific enhancement statute." *Id.* Because the school zone enhancement at issue had "no explicit statutory authorization for imposition of a sentence enhancement on an accomplice, the defendant's own acts must form the basis for the enhancement." *Id.* at 664; *Cf. State v. Roberts*, 142 Wn.2d 471, 501-2, 505, 14 P.3d 713 (2000) (individualized determination of "major participation by a defendant" necessary to convict person of aggravated first degree murder, not "[m]erely satisfying the minimal requirements of the accomplice liability statute").

2. Settled principles of statutory construction underlie the Court of Appeals opinion.

Applying *McKim* and related precedent to the exceptional sentence statute at issue, the Court of Appeals concluded that "Nothing in RCW 9.94A.535(3)(d) explicitly extends responsibility to an accomplice." Slip op. at 6. "[T]he major economic offense enhancement does not contain a triggering device that would extend its application to a conviction based on accomplice liability." *Id*.

In its petition for review, the State asks this court to speculate about whether some use of the passive voice within the statute listing aggravating factors implies the possibility of imposing an exceptional sentence upon an accomplice. Petition for Review, at 12-15. But this argument is contrary to settled principles of statutory construction.

When interpreting a criminal statute, courts "give it a literal and strict interpretation." *State v. Delgado*, 148 Wn.2d 723, 727, 63 P.3d 792, 795 (2003) (construing SRA provision RCW 9.94A.030). A penal statute must be construed in the defendant's favor when ambiguous. *State v. Jacobs*, 154 Wn.2d 596, 601, 115 P.3d 281 (2005).

"The Legislature is presumed to know existing case law in areas in which it is legislating." *In re Foreclosure of Liens*, 117 Wn.2d 77, 86, 811 P.2d 945 (1991); *see State v. Bobic*, 140 Wn.2d 250, 264, 996 P.2d 610 (2000) ("when our Legislature enacts a statute, it is presumed to be familiar with judicial interpretations of statutes"). The Legislature has not included express triggering language in the exceptional sentence statute, as it did with the deadly weapon enhancement statute after *McKim*. "Where the Legislature uses certain statutory language in one instance, and different language in another, there is a difference in legislative intent." *Silva-Baltazar*, 125 Wn.2d at 487 n.1 (Madsen, J.,

concurring, quoting *inter alia In re Swanson*, 115 Wn.2d 21, 27, 793 P.2d 962 (1990)).

There is no dispute that the exceptional sentence statute at issue contains no triggering language authorizing accomplice liability. As the Court of Appeals explained:

Hayes's exceptional sentence was based on the major economic offense enhancement as defined in RCW 9. 94A.535(3)(d). It provides, in pertinent part, that [T]he following circumstances are an exclusive list of factors that can support a sentence above the standard range[:]

- (d) The current offense was a major economic offense or series of offenses, so identified by a consideration of any of the following factors:
- (i) The current offense involved multiple victims or multiple incidents per victim;
- (ii) The current offense involved attempted or actual monetary loss substantially greater than typical for the offense;
- (iii) The current offense involved a high degree of sophistication or planning or occurred over a lengthy period of time; or
- (iv) The defendant used his or her position of trust, confidence, or fiduciary responsibility to facilitate the commission of the current offense. RCW 9. 94A.535(3)(d). Nothing in RCW 9.94A.535(3)(d) explicitly extends responsibility to an accomplice.

Slip op. at 6.

Unlike the exceptional sentence statute, other provisions of the SRA direct the imposition of enhanced penalties for an accomplice's

acts. See RCW 9.94A.533(5) ("The following additional times shall be added to the standard sentence range if the offender or an accomplice committed the offense while in a county jail or state correctional facility"); RCW 9.94A.533(3) ("The following additional times shall be added to the standard sentence range ... if the offender or an accomplice was armed with a firearm"); RCW 9.94A.533(4) (adding punishment "if the offender or an accomplice was armed with a deadly weapon"). The State offers no explanation why the Legislature did not insert triggering language into the exceptional sentence statute as it did in other provisions of the SRA. See Delgado, 148 Wn.2d at 728-29 (under doctrine of expressio unis est exclusion alterius, court presumes use of clear language in one statute, and its absence in related statute, was intentional).

Here, the jury was not directed to make any individualized determination of Hayes's culpability for purposes of the aggravating factor. The jury was instructed that it may convict Hayes as an accomplice for each offense. CP 67 (Instruction 11). To find the aggravating factor of major economic offense in the special verdict form, the jury was asked, "Was the crime a major economic offense or series of offenses?" CP 25 (Special Verdict Form Count I). At trial, the

prosecution argued that Hayes should be found guilty of all charged offenses by aiding or abetting Epstein. 6/23/09p.m.RP 38. The prosecution said,

if Larry Hayes aided, abetted, or assisted Benjamin Epstein as an accomplice then you can return a verdict of guilty on any charge where you find that he has acted as an accomplice.

6/23/09p.m.RP 38. Based on these arguments, the jury instructions, and in the absence of special interrogatories, the court presumes the jury's verdict may have rested on accomplice liability. *Roberts*, 142 Wn.2d at 509.

The State asks this Court to view the exception sentence statute as ambiguous and find that the Legislature implied the availability of an exceptional sentence for a person convicted as an accomplice when the aggravating factor does not expressly require "the defendant" committed the necessary acts. But this request turns principles of statutory construction on their head.

In *McKim*, this Court explained that a statute must expressly impose added punishment for an accomplice and that dictate has not changed. The Legislature revised the deadly weapon statute to add liability for an accomplice. *See* RCW 9.94A.533(3), (4). It has not

amended the exceptional sentence statute to extend liability to an accomplice. It has not signaled that punishment should be increased for a minor participant to the same degree as a major participant. Case law as well as common sense and fundamental fairness support the established notion that a person should receive increased punishment only for his individual conduct.

3. Because the jury's verdict rested on a series of offenses and several convictions were reversed, the verdict no longer authorizes an exceptional sentence, showing that this case is the wrong vehicle for a general review of the exceptional sentence statute.

The State's petition for review does not address additional reasons why the exceptional sentence was not validly imposed on remand after the Court of Appeals reversed several of Hayes's convictions. A defendant may not be punished for offenses for which he or she was not convicted. *State v. McAlpin*, 108 Wn.2d 458, 466, 740 P.2d 824 (1987) ("The Sentencing Reform Act bars the court from considering unproven or uncharged crimes as a reason for imposing an exceptional sentence").

The initial jury finding that authorized an exceptional sentence was that "the current offense or series of offenses" constitute a major economic offense. CP 25. But by reversing several convictions,

including the most serious charge against Hayes, the Court nullified the jury's special verdict. The jury never specified which "series of offenses" it relied upon. The prosecution pressed the court to impose an exceptional sentence based on the sheer volume of credit card receipts in the briefcase, without regard to Hayes's ownership of or use of those receipts as found by the jury. 3/16/12RP 9. A person may not be sentenced for allegations that were not proven to a jury and a reversal of convictions underlying an exceptional sentence also undermines the exceptional sentence.

Additionally, the sentencing court limited its imposition of the exceptional sentence to Count One. But the prosecution did not present sufficient evidence that Count One was a "major economic offense" on its own. This conviction involved the use of Scott Mutter's stolen credit card, which someone used to amass \$2047 in unauthorized charges.

10RP 9. Hayes was convicted of first degree identity theft as either accomplice or principle. CP 13. Since first degree identity theft requires the perpetrator obtain property over \$1500, the \$2000 theft is hardly an extraordinary departure from acts contemplated by the statute and the standard range. RCW 9.35.020(1),(2)(a). This offense does not meet the

criteria of the major economic offense aggravating factor. RCW 9.94A.535(3)(d).

In sum, there is no conflict or constitutional infirmity that merits granting review. The Court of Appeals relied on settled legal principles. The State's effort to concoct a conflict by citing an unpublished Court of Appeals opinion should be disregarded. Petition for Review, at 16. Unpublished decisions are not precedent. GR 14.1 ("A party may not cite as an authority an unpublished opinion of the Court of Appeals."). Moreover, the case cited is similar to *Silva-Baltazar*, where the defendant received an exceptional sentence based on his own conduct and the manner in which the offense occurred, not based on the accumulation of ill-gotten gains by another person, as in the case at bar. The Court of Appeals decision rests on firm reasoning and settled law and this Court should deny review.

F. CONCLUSION.

Based on the foregoing, Respondent Larry Hayes respectfully requests that the Court deny review.